# **RECEIVED**

### STATE OF WISCONSIN 07-28-2016

# COURT OF APPEAL SCLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

### DISTRICT II

Case No. 2016AP0500-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

RICHARD L. KELLER,

Defendant-Respondent.

APPEAL FROM AN ORDER GRANTING DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS EVIDENCE, ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR WASHINGTON COUNTY, THE HONORABLE JAMES K. MUEHLBAUER, PRESIDING

### BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

DAVID H. PERLMAN Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1002730 Attorneys for Plaintiff-Appellant

#### STATEMENT OF ISSUES

1. Was the search of Keller's computer, which Probation Agent Johnson desired and arranged, but was actually performed at Agent Johnson's request and supervision by a Division of Criminal Investigation (DCI) forensic computer analyst, a probationary search or a police search?

The trial court held it was an unlawful police search and granted Keller's motion to suppress the evidence the search generated.

2. Did Keller have an expectation of privacy in a computer and all its contents, when he was prohibited by the rules of his probation to possess or use a computer?

While the trial court did not specifically rule on this issue, it necessarily must have opined that Keller had a privacy interest in the computer since it granted Keller's motion to suppress the evidence found in the computer.

# STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The state anticipates that the arguments will be fully developed in the parties' briefs and that oral argument will not be necessary. But, since this case involves a clarification as to what is a probationary search and the privacy rights of a probationer in property he is prohibited from possessing, the state asks for publication of this court's opinion.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from an order filed February 10, 2016, in the Washington County Circuit Court (24, A-App. 101) in which the Honorable James K. Muehlbauer, granted Keller's motion to suppress evidence obtained from a search of his computer.

A criminal complaint filed May 13, 2015, charged Keller with nine counts of possession of child pornography and nine counts of bail jumping, contrary to Wis. Stat. §§ 948.12(1m) and (3)(a), 939.50(3)(d), and 946.49(1)(b), 939.50(3)(h). (1, A-App. 102-107.)

According to allegations in the complaint, the charges were based in large part on evidence discovered from searching Keller's computer. (1, A-App. 107-110.)

On December 8, 2015, Keller filed a motion to suppress any and all evidence obtained from what he alleged was an illegal search of his computer. (18:1-35.)

A hearing on the suppression motion was held on February 3, 2016. (39:1-109, A-App. 114-222.) The court issued its oral ruling on February 3, 2016, finding that the search of Keller's computer was not a lawful probationary search, but rather an improper police search, and granted Keller's motion to suppress the evidence the search generated. (39:106, A-App. 219.)

The written order granting Keller's motion to suppress evidence found on his computer was filed on February 10, 2016 (24, A-App. 101), and the state filed its notice of appeal on March 9, 2016 (26:1-3).

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

Prior to July 17, 2013, Keller was supervised by a generic probation agent for an arson case. (39:12-13, A-App. 125-126.) The agent was notified that Keller had been convicted in Dodge County for possession of child pornography, and that a presentence investigation pursuant to that conviction had been ordered. (39:13, A-App. 126.) Consequently, on July 17, 2013, Keller's supervision was transferred to a sex offender probation agent, Nicole

Johnson. (39:12-13. A-App. 125-126.) Agent Johnson was assigned to supervise Keller as a sex offender and to write the Presentence Investigation report. (39:13, A-App. 126.)

Agent Johnson contacted Keller on July 17, 2013, and she met with him at her probation office in West Bend, WI, on that date. (39:13-14, A-App. 126-127.) At this meeting, Agent Johnson reviewed with Keller the rules of his supervision, and Keller signed the rules. (39:14, A-App. 127.) Agent Johnson and Keller discussed the Dodge County conviction, Keller's family, and the current status of Keller's life. (Id.) Keller advised Agent Johnson that he was living with his wife and two children and that they were in the process of selling their home and planned to move into an apartment in Kewaskum, WI. (39:15, A-App. 128.) Keller also told Agent Johnson that while he uses a computer at work, he does not have a home computer. (39:16, A-App. 129.) Agent Johnson told Keller that he did not have approval to have a computer at his home for personal use and Keller explained that he understood this and that his wife and children had their own computers, but that they were password protected. (Id.) Amongst the probationary rules that Agent Johnson went over with Keller on July 17, 2013, and Keller signed, was paragraph 14 which read "You shall not purchase, possess, nor use computer software, hardware, nor modem, without prior agent approval." (39:18, A-App. 131.)

On July 25, 2013, Agent Johnson made a scheduled visit of Keller's home. Agent Johnson observed that Keller's home was very messy, as there were books and paperwork piled very high, throughout the home. (39:23, A-App. 136.) The home was in disarray and there was a locked door off the kitchen that Keller claimed led to his wife's office. (39:24, A-App. 137.) Keller opened this locked door and Agent Johnson saw inside papers and computer equipment and

tripods. (*Id.*) Keller told Agent Johnson that the computer equipment was his wife's, which she needed for her job. (39:25, A-App. 138.) Agent Johnson was very concerned about Keller's home's sloppy condition, and also about seeing the computers and photography equipment. (39:26, A-App. 139.)

Agent Johnson made another home visit with Keller on August 8, 2013, and at that time Keller advised that he planned to have his house listed for sale by September 1, 2013. (39:27, A-App. 140.) Keller further advised that his wife and children were already sleeping at the apartment in Kewaskum. (*Id.*) Keller stated that he was still living at the house. (39:28, A-App. 141.)

On August 13, 2013, Keller missed a scheduled appointment with Agent Johnson. (Id.) On August 20, 2013, Agent Johnson contacted Keller's wife by telephone, and she advised Johnson that she and her children had possession of their computers, and they were in the apartment in Kewaskum. At this point, Agent Johnson made plans to have an unscheduled visit of Keller's home. (39:29-30, A-App. 142-143.) On August 20, 2013, Agent Johnson, and Washington County Detective Walsh, who Agent Johnson asked to accompany her, made an unscheduled visit of Keller's home. (39:30-31, 41-42, A-App. 143-144, 154-155.) Agent Johnson discovered that Keller was not at home and so she contacted Keller by cell phone. (39:31-32, A-App. 144-145.) Keller told Agent Johnson that he was at the pharmacy and would be on his way home right away. (39:32, A-App. 145.) Keller soon arrived home and let Agent Johnson in the front door and Johnson noticed that the house was still messy, and she also observed two modems with blinking lights. (39:34, A-App. 147.) Johnson then went into the room that Keller had previously described as his wife's office, and in the room she

saw computers, a tower, a laptop, and a large screen on the wall. (*Id*.)

Agent Johnson asked Keller about the computers that she observed, and Keller stated that he didn't think they worked, but he admitted that he had used the laptop the previous day to check his email. (39:36, A-App. 149.) Agent Johnson, Detective Walsh and another officer, continued to tour the Keller residence and went into the basement area where Agent Johnson saw more computer equipment. (39:37-38, A-App.150-151.) After seeing the computers, Agent Johnson contacted her supervisor, via phone, and told her supervisor that there were computers still in the residence, and she believed these computers to be Keller's since Keller's wife had told her that she had all her computers with her. (39:38, A-App. 151.) At this point the supervisor instructed Agent Johnson to seize the computers. (Id.) Agent Johnson seized the computers that were in the office. (39:40, A-App. 153.) Because Keller had violated his supervisory rules by possessing a computer, and because he admitted to accessing an email account that Agent Johnson did not know about, Keller was placed in custody. (39:42, A-App. 155.)

Agent Johnson placed the seized computer items in her vehicle and transported them back to the probation and parole office. (*Id.*) Once at the office Agent Johnson carried the computers into her office, set them on her desk, and inventoried the property. (39:44, A-App. 157.) After completing the inventory form Agent Johnson placed the computers in a locked cabinet, closet, in the hallway of the office. (*Id.*) Access to this locked closet is restricted to Department of Corrections agents or employees. (39:45, A-App. 158.)

On August 21, 2013 Agent Johnson met with Keller at the Washington County Jail, and at this time Keller admitted to using the computer towers to view CD's that contained child pornography. (39:61, 62, 75, A-App. 174-175, 188.)

While Agent Johnson wished to search the computers, she lacked the ability and the expertise to do so, and there was nobody in the West Bend probation office with the ability to search computers. (39:45, 52, A-App. 158, 165.) Agent Johnson wanted to search the computers for child pornography not just because of Keller's violation of Rule 14, possessing and using a computer, but also because she suspected Keller was violating Rule 1, committing an illegal act. (39:70, A-App. 183.) Agent Johnson then asked the Washington County Sheriff's Department if they search computers for probation and they told her no. She then reached out to a detective with the Sheboygan Police Department who had searched computers for her when she was an agent in Sheboygan County. (Id.) The Sheboygan detective advised Agent Johnson that perhaps DCI in Madison could search the computer materials for her. (39:68, A-App. 181.)

On September 4, 2013, Agent Johnson contacted DCI and was told that they would get in touch with a forensic analyst that could help her search Keller's computer. (39:47, A-App. 160.) DCI Forensic Analyst Chris Kendrex contacted Johnson, and arrangements were made to search the items that Agent Johnson had seized from Keller's residence. On September 5, 2013, Agent Johnson removed the computers from the locked closet in her office and transported them by vehicle to Madison. (39:48, A-App. 161.)

When Agent Johnson arrived at the DCI offices in Madison, Kendrex met her at the underground parking structure with a wheeled cart, and together they loaded the computer items onto the cart. (39:49, A-App. 162.) They then went, via elevator, to Kendrex's office, which was a lab-type room. (Id.) Throughout the subsequent search of Keller's equipment, Agent Johnson remained in the room with Kendrex. (Id.) During the search Kendrex sat in a corner cubical and Agent Johnson sat next to him where she had a view of the computer being searched. (Id.) Agent Johnson explained to Kendrex that she would order the search stopped once any illegal image was found on Keller's computer. (39:50, A-App. 163.) With Agent Johnson sitting directly behind him, Kendrex began to search the computer and when Agent Johnson saw an image, which she thought was child pornography, she would mention this to Kendrex, but as he was not sure it was what Agent Johnson was looking for, they continued searching. When they came upon an image that Kendrex confirmed was child pornography, Agent Johnson ordered the search to stop. (Id.) Agent Johnson then contacted her supervisor and told her that she had found an image that would be considered child pornography in Keller's computer, and the supervisor agreed with Agent Johnson that the search should be concluded. (Id.) Agent Johnson then left the DCI offices with all the items that she had come with; she did not leave any of Keller's computers with DCI (39:51, A-App. 164.)

On September 6, 2013, Agent Johnson referred the matter to Detective Walsh and arrangements were made for Walsh to pick up the items at Agent Johnson's office. Prior to September 6, 2013, Agent Johnson had not given Detective Walsh or any other law enforcement officer directions or instructions to conduct a criminal investigation on Keller. (39:53, A-App. 166.) On October 4, 2013, Detective Walsh obtained a search warrant for the items seized by Agent

Johnson at Keller's residence leading to the discovery of several child pornographic images. (1:8-9, A-App. 109-110.)

#### ARGUMENT

#### I. Introduction.

The core issue of this appeal is whether the child pornography image found in Keller's computer, which led to the search warrant, was discovered from a probation search or from a police search. The trial court opined that since the actual physical manipulations of the computer were performed by DCI Analyst Kendrex, it was an unlawful police search. The State appeals this trial court ruling, believing that because Agent Johnson initiated the search, orchestrated it, benefited from it, and made the call to start and end it, the search was a probation initiative, and the trial court erroneously suppressed the evidence.

Lurking a bit below the surface is a second issue; whether a probationer can have an expectation of privacy in a computer, which by the rules of his supervision he is not allowed to have. Put another way, can a probationer have an expectation of privacy in contraband found in contraband. This issue came up tangentially in a verbal exchange between the prosecutor and the court, just prior to the court's oral ruling suppressing the evidence. (39:93-94, A-App. 206-207.) While the trial court did not specifically hold that a probationer has an expectation of privacy in a computer he is not allowed to possess, it did so, by implication, since it found a Fourth Amendment violation. The State contends that a probationer does not have a privacy interest that society recognizes as reasonable, in property he/she is forbidden to possess. Consequently, the State argues that the search of Keller's computer did not implicate the Fourth Amendment, and the evidence it uncovered was wrongfully suppressed.

II. The search of Keller's computer was a lawful probationary search triggered by reasonable grounds that Keller was violating the rules of his probation.

### A. Standard of review and applicable law.

A probation agent may search a probationer's residence or property based on reasonable grounds that the probationer is violating the rules of probation. State v. Griffin, 131 Wis. 2d 41, 58, 388 N.W.2d 535 (1986) aff'd, Griffin v. Wisconsin, 483 U.S. 868 (1987). The reasonable grounds standard justifying a probation search is less than the probable cause standard needed to obtain a warrant. Griffin, 131 Wis. 2d at 60. It is difficult to contemplate a scenario where a probation agent would not have reasonable grounds to believe that a probationer's contraband would not contain more contraband. State v. Purtell, 2014 WI 101, ¶¶ 27-31, 358 Wis. 2d 212, 851 N.W.2d 417.

The determination of whether a search is a probation search or a police search is a question of constitutional fact. The circuit court findings of fact are under the clearly standard but the court's finding erroneous constitutionality is reviewed de novo. State v. Hajicek, 2001 WI 3, ¶ 42, 240 Wis. 2d 349, 620 N.W.2d 781. The evaluation of whether a search is a probationary or police initiative is based on the totality of the circumstances. State v. Devries, 2012 WI App. 119, ¶ 3, 344 Wis. 2d 726, 824 N.W.2d 913. A probation agent cannot serve as a "stalking horse" (a decoy) for the police; to use their authority to help the police evade their Fourth Amendment requirements. State v. Wheat, 2002 WI App 153, ¶ 20, 256 Wis. 2d 270, 647 N.W.2d 441. But, cooperation between a probation agent and a law enforcement officer does not transform a probation search into a police search. *Hajicek*, 240 Wis. 2d 349, ¶ 32. A search which is done at the request and behalf of a probation agent,

but is actually performed by a police officer, is not *per se* a police search. *Devries*, 344 Wis. 2d 726, ¶ 7.

A fair summary of the applicable law is as follows: A probationary search is permissible if the probation agent has reasonable grounds that a probationer is violating the conditions of his probation. It is extremely likely that an agent has the requisite reasonable grounds for a search of contraband in the probationer's possession.

A probation agent cannot serve as a "stalking horse" for the police, as a means by which the police can circumvent Fourth Amendment requirements. But, cooperation between the probation agent and the police does not, by itself, morph a probationary search into a police one. Searches initiated and engineered by probation agents do not automatically become police searches solely because the search was actually performed by a police officer.

Ultimately, the determination of whether a search is a probationary or police action is based on the totality of the circumstances.

### B. Application of the law to facts of this case.

There is little debate about the relevant facts in this case; rather the controversy is over how to interpret these facts in a probationary or police search analysis. The key facts are:

- As a condition of his probation, Keller was specifically prohibited from possessing and/or using a computer. (39:18, A-App.131.) Agent Johnson never gave Keller permission to have or use a computer. (39:37, A-App. 150.)
- During a home visit Agent Johnson found computers, towers, and a laptop, and a lot of other

computer equipment in Keller's residence. (39:34-35, A-App. 147-148.) Keller admitted using the computer to check on email from an email account different than the one he had previously provided to Agent Johnson. (39:36, A-App. 149.)

- Agent Johnson seized Keller's computers and took them to her office. (39:43-44, A-App.156-157.)
- Agent Johnson met with Keller at the Washington County Jail and Keller admitted to using the computer tower to view a child pornography CD. (39:61-62, 75; A-Ap.174-175, 188.)
- Agent Johnson did not have the technical ability to search computers and contacted DCI for assistance in making the search. (39:45, 47, A-App. 158, 160.)
- Agent Johnson went to DCI, met with DCI analyst Chris Kendrex, and explained to him the parameters of the search. (39:49-50, A-App. 162-163.) During the search, Analyst Kendrex, based on his expertise, advised if he felt an image was or was not child pornography. (39:50, A-App. 163.)
- Once a child pornography image had been found, Agent Johnson ordered the search to stop. (*Id.*)
- DCI had no involvement in any investigation of Keller, before or after the disputed search.

A composite view of the above described facts show a clear picture of a probationary driven search. Indeed, only two factors suggest otherwise; the facts that a DCI analyst actually performed the search and that he lent his expertise in evaluating what was discovered. But the DCI, had no interest in Keller, no ongoing investigation, and did not utilize any of the discovered information for their own benefit. It was Agent Johnson who wanted the search performed, and who dictated the scope and duration of the

inspection. In every way, Agent Johnson was the catalyst for the search, and Analyst Kendrex was merely the subcontractor acting under Agent Johnson's supervision.

The trial court, while noting that the search was Agent Johnson's idea, and that she had a right to seize the computer, balked at her involving Analyst Kendrex, and took issue with the scope of the search, calling it an exploration. The trial court scolded Agent Johnson, exclaiming,

But we have Agent Johnson taking the computers to DCI in Madison, from her office at the Department of Probation and Parole. It's disputed<sup>1</sup>, factually accurate, that she doesn't limit her request to what she want's investigated on the computer. She doesn't say, geez, I just want to determine if Mr. Keller used these computers on or after he had a rule saying he couldn't use them, which is July 17th, 2013. So to the extent she is requesting or directing anything in terms of the DCI investigation and analysis of computers by Mr. Kendrex, she is —there is no attempt to limit this to generalized use of computer.

(39:100, A-App. 213.)

There are several flaws in this trial court analysis. First, it is inaccurate; the record is clear that Agent Johnson was looking for an illegal image, and she testified that she instructed Kendrex that she would stop the search the moment such an image was found. (39:50, A-App. 163.) So, she clearly did limit the scope of the search. Second, in this case, where Agent Johnson set in motion the search, the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> It's clear from the context that though the transcript reads "disputed" the trial court meant to say "undisputed."

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