RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 08-26-2016 COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v. Appeal No. 2016AP000500 CR

RICHARD L. KELLER,

Defendant-Respondent.

An Appeal from an Order Granting Defendant's Motion to Suppress Evidence in Washington County Case No. 2015CF000207 entered by the Honorable James K. Muehlbauer, Circuit Court, Branch II, Washington County

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-RESPONDENT

William A. Mayer State Bar No. 1001031

Becky Van Dam State Bar No. 1095215

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

ARGUMENT

This Court should affirm the circuit court's decision that the evidence obtained from a warrantless police search of Mr. Keller's computers should be suppressed. The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution protect people from unreasonable searches and seizures. U.S. Const. amend. IV; Wis. Const. art.1, § 11.

"Probationers are entitled to a certain degree of constitutional protection under the Fourth Amendment..." Purtell, 2014 WI at ¶ 22. While probation agents are permitted to conduct a warrantless search of a

probationer's home or property pursuant to Wisconsin Administrative Code Section DOC 328.22 under certain conditions, law enforcement is not.

A violation of the Fourth Amendment based on an unlawful search or seizure can result in the suppression of the illegally obtained evidence pursuant to the exclusionary rule. State v. Dearborn, 2010 WI 84, \P 15, 327 Wis. 2d 252, 262, 786 N.W.2d 97, 102.

I. THIS COURT SHOULD AFFIRM THE CIRCUIT COURT'S DECISION GRANTING MR. KELLER'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS BECAUSE THE EVIDENCE WAS OBTAINED FROM A WARRANTLESS POLICE SEARCH.

Warrantless searches are presumptively unreasonable, subject to only a few specifically established exceptions. State v. Griffin, 131 Wis. 2d 41, 50, 388 N.W.2d 535, 538 (1986), aff'd, 483 U.S. 868, 107 S. Ct. 3164, 97 L. Ed. 2d 709 (1987). A probation agent is permitted to search a probationer's home or property without a warrant if the agent obtains supervisory approval prior to the search and has "reasonable grounds to believe the offender possesses contraband or evidence of a rule violation on or within his or her person or property." Wis. Admin. Code §§ DOC 328.22(2)(a) and (7) (Oct. 2015).

Agent Johnson did receive supervisory approval prior to the search. (39:38; App. 151.) She also had reasonable

grounds to believe that Mr. Keller possessed contraband or evidence of a rule violation on his property because he had computers in his house, which he was prohibited from possessing under his rules of community supervision.

(39:18, 34; App. 131, 147.) However, Wisconsin

Administrative Code Section DOC 328.22 only authorizes a "probation agent" to conduct the search, not law enforcement.

A. The Search of Mr. Keller's Computers was not a Probation Search Because it was not Conducted by a Probation Agent.

Agent Johnson did not conduct the search of Mr.

Keller's computers. (39:49-50; App. 162-63.) In fact, she did not even attempt to search or even turn on the computers herself. (39:68; App. 181.) Instead, a criminal analyst of the Wisconsin Department of Justice, Division of Criminal Investigation, conducted the search of the computers. (39:49-50; App. 162-63.)

Agent Johnson claimed that she did not have the ability to search a computer. (39:45; App.) She also indicated that no one in her office had the ability to search a computer. (39:45; App. 158.)

However, in *State v. Purtell*, 2014 WI 101, ¶ 14, 358 Wis. 2d 212, 223, 851 N.W.2d 417, 422, *cert. denied*, 135 S. Ct. 736, 190 L. Ed. 2d 460 (2014), a probation agent did

search a probationer's computer. The defendant was on probation in which part of his conditions were that he "not purchase, possess, nor use a computer, software, hardware, nor a modem without prior agent approval." *Id.* at ¶¶ 5-6.

Purtell was living in a group home and refused to get rid of his computers. Id. at ¶ 10. His probation agent learned that Purtell was in possession of computers in violation of his rules and took him into custody. Id. at ¶¶ 11-12. Purtell's agent, along with two other probation agents, searched Purtell's room and took his laptop, desktop computer and other computer equipment. Id. at ¶ 12.

Purtell's probation agent then searched one of Purtell's computers without a warrant. Id. at ¶ 14. His agent turned the computer on and "several titles to images popped up on the screen that involved females engaged in sexual activity with animals and images of what appeared to be underage females." Id. The agent informed her supervisor of the images found and they contacted law enforcement. Id.

Law enforcement then obtained two search warrants to search Purtell's computers. Purtell filed a motion to suppress the evidence seized from his computers, arguing that his agent lacked a warrant and reasonable grounds to search his computers. Id. at \P 15. The court ultimately concluded that the search conducted solely by the probation

agent without a warrant was reasonable. Id. at \P 20.

Unlike the search in *Purtell*, the search in this case was not conducted by the probation agent. (39:49-50; App.) Wisconsin Administrative Code Section DOC 328.22 *only* authorizes a "probation agent" to conduct a warrantless search upon certain findings.

Agent Johnson was only authorized to search Mr.

Keller's computers, not law enforcement. If she was not capable of searching the computers, then it should be left to law enforcement to properly obtain a search warrant to search the computers.

The search of the computers should not be considered a probation search because it was not conducted by a probation agent. This Court should consider the totality of the circumstances in determining whether a search is a police or probation search. State v. Devries, 2012 WI App 119, ¶ 3, 344 Wis. 2d 726, 729, 824 N.W.2d 913, 915.

B. The Search of Mr. Keller's Computers was a Police Search Because it was Conducted by a Criminal Analyst at the Department of Justice and was Part of an Independent Police Investigation.

A probation agent cannot use his or her authority to help law enforcement circumvent the Fourth Amendment's warrant requirement. State v. Wheat, 2002 WI App 153, \P 20, 256 Wis. 2d 270, 281, 647 N.W.2d 441, 446. The search in

this case was done by a law enforcement agency and was part of an independent police investigation.

The search of Mr. Keller's computers was done by a law enforcement agency. The search was conducted by a criminal analyst of the Wisconsin Department of Justice, Division of Criminal Investigation (DCI). (39:49-50; App. 162-63.) "DCI is charged with a purely criminal investigative mission and function." (22:Def Ex 6; App. 290.) DCI also "employs Special Agents who are sworn law enforcement officers..." (22:Def Ex 6; App. 290.) "DCI Special Agents work closely with local, county, state and federal officials to investigate and prosecute crimes..." (22:Def Ex 6; App. 290.)

DCI is also the same agency that was used by Detective Walsh of the Washington County Sheriff's Office to search Mr. Keller's computers after he obtained a search warrant. (37:10; App. 232.) The search of the computers by a criminal analyst at DCI that was requested by Detective Walsh would certainly be considered a police search. Similarly, a search conducted by the same entity, a criminal analyst at DCI, that was requested by Agent Johnson should also be considered a police search.

Although cooperation between a probation agent and law enforcement does not transform a probation search into a

police search, State v. Hajicek, 2001 WI 3, ¶ 32, 240 Wis. 2d 349, 366, 620 N.W.2d 781, 788, there was more than mere cooperation in this case. The criminal analyst conducted the entire search of the computers himself. (39:49-50; App.) Agent Johnson only "watched" the search take place. (39:49-50; App. 162-63.)

Even though Agent Johnson initiated the search by contacting a criminal analyst at DCI to conduct the search (39:47; App. 160.), she had no further participation in the search of the computers other than being a bystander. (39:49-50; App. 162-63.) The search was also part of an independent police investigation.

A search initiated by a probation agent in which law enforcement assists is a probation search if law enforcement is not independently conducting a police investigation or search. *Devries*, 2012 WI App at ¶ 8. In *Devries*, the court found that a police officer assisting a probation agent by administering a PBT to a probationer at the probation agent's request was a probation search because the officer "was not independently conducting a police investigation or search."

The defendant met with her probation agent at the probation office. Id. at \P 2. The agent detected an odor of alcohol from the defendant and requested that a police

officer come the office to administer a PBT to her. *Id*. The police officer administered the PBT to Devries which indicated a blood alcohol concentration of .128. *Id*. The agent then placed Devries on a probation hold. *Id*.

The court considered the following factors in determining that it was a probation search: the agent initiated the search, it was conducted at the probation office, the officer only assisted with the administration of the PBT and the officer was not aware until "after" he administered the PBT to Devries that she had driven to the office - giving him reason to suspect that Devries may have committed a crime and prompting his police investigation for OWI. Id. at ¶ 5.

The court concluded the administration of the PBT was a probation search because it was not administered for any independent police purpose, it was a limited search, it was executed at the request of the agent and it occurred during a probation meeting, in the probation office, for probation purposes. Id. at \P 7.

Unlike the search in *Devries*, the search in this case was not conducted at the probation office, the search was not limited and there was an independent police investigation. The search in this case did not occur during a probation meeting at the probation office. Instead, Agent

Johnson seized Mr. Keller's computers from his home (39:40; App. 153.) and took them to DCI in Madison to be searched by a criminal analyst. (39:48-49; App. 161-62.)

The search of the computers was also very extensive, not limited. The analyst located over thirteen thousand images during the search. (18:27; App. 280.) Agent Johnson testified that she told the analyst that as soon as they found anything illegal the search would be done. (39:50; App. 163.) However, she thought there were images that she considered to be children, but the analyst believed that they were not. (39:50; App. 163.) The analyst continued searching the images on the computer, until "he" determined that there was an image of a child. (39:50; App. 163.)

Agent Johnson certainly was not directing the criminal analyst's search of the computers. (39:49-50; App. 162-63.) Agent Johnson was basically told to just take a seat and she "watched" the search. (39:49-50; App. 162-63.) When asked what the analyst did during the search, Agent Johnson testified "Well, I don't really know what he did exactly." (39:49; App. 162.)

The analyst also prepared two preview reports on a disc that was given to Detective Walsh. (18:28; App. 281.)

These reports and the images on them led to Detective Walsh obtaining a search warrant to search Mr. Keller's

computers. (18:27-32; App. 280-85.) The information obtained from the search was used as part of an independent police investigation. (18:27-32; App. 280-85.)

The search of the computers was part of an independent police investigation because Detective Walsh was involved and kept informed throughout the entire process. Detective Walsh was aware that Mr. Keller was on probation and was out on bail for possession of child pornography. (39:83-84, App. 196-97.)

Detective Walsh was also present at the unscheduled home visit at Mr. Keller's residence when Agent Johnson seized his computers. (39:31, 40; App. 144, 153.) Detective Walsh then transported Mr. Keller to the jail when he was placed on a probation hold. (37:9; App. 231.) He even attempted to interview Mr. Keller in jail as part of his independent investigation. (39:83; App. 196.)

Detective Walsh testified that he was investigating possible bail jumping charges. (39:84; App. 197.) He was aware that Mr. Keller was on bail for possession of child pornography with conditions that he not possess a computer other than for work or school. (39:83-84, App. 196-97.) But Mr. Keller declined the interview. (39:85; App. 198.)

Detective Walsh also testified that he was aware that Agent Johnson "had the ability to conduct a search of [Mr.

Keller's] computers." (37:9; App.) Agent Johnson called Detective Walsh from DCI after the computers were searched by the analyst and informed him they located numerous possible child pornography photos on the devices. (37:9; App. 231.)

Detective Walsh met with Agent Johnson the following day, in which she gave him the items seized from Mr.

Keller's home, including the computers. (37:9; App. 231.)

Detective Walsh was also given the preview disc prepared by the analyst that contained two reports and fifty-five photos of nude pubescent females. (18:27-28; App. 280-81.)

Detective Walsh then relied upon this information in his investigation to secure a search warrant for the computers. (18:27-32; App. 280-85.) The computers were searched again by a criminal analyst at DCI. (37:10; App. 232.) The images found from the search led to Mr. Keller being charged with nine counts of Possession of Child Pornography and nine counts of Felony Bail Jumping. (1:1-6; App. 102-07.)

Law enforcement would not have been able to search the computers without the information provided by Agent Johnson and the criminal analyst from the first search. The State even concedes that there was insufficient probable cause to obtain a search warrant.

However, the lack of probable cause for a search warrant does not justify a search conducted by law enforcement under the guise that it is a probation search simply because a probation agent initiated the search. See Wheat, 2002 WI App at ¶ 20. The fact that Agent Johnson only initiated the search should not make the search a probation search.

If a search was considered a probation search only because a probation agent "initiated" the search then law enforcement could conduct all searches involving probation and parole as long as the agent initiated it. This would significantly undermine the rights guaranteed to people under the Fourth Amendment by allowing law enforcement to evade the warrant requirement.

Courts have found that a search is a probation search when the probation agent actually "conducts" the search of a probationer's home or property while law enforcement are only "present" for protective purposes. See Griffin v. Wisconsin, 483 U.S. 868, 871, 880, 107 S. Ct. 3164, 3167, 3172, 97 L. Ed. 2d 709 (1987) (finding that the search of the defendant's home while police officers were present, but "carried out entirely by the probation officers under the authority of Wisconsin's probation regulation" was reasonable.); Hajicek, 2001 WI at ¶ 29 (concluding that the

search of the defendant's home was a probation search because the probation officers conducted the search while law enforcement officers were only present for protective purposes.); Wheat, 2002 WI App at ¶ 23 (concluding that the search of the defendant's home was a lawful probation search and not a law enforcement search because the probation officer conducted the search while law enforcement officers were present only for protective purposes.); and State v. Jones, 2008 WI App 154, ¶¶ 15-16, 314 Wis. 2d 408, 418-19, 762 N.W.2d 106, 111 (finding that the search of the defendant's room was a probation search and not a police search because the probation agent initiated and conducted the search, while police officers were only present at the residence for protective purposes.)

Conversely, if law enforcement "conducts" the actual search of a probationer's home or property and the probation agent is only "present," the search should be considered a police search. In this case, the search was a police search because it was conducted by a criminal analyst at DCI while Agent Johnson was only present and it was part of an independent police investigation. The evidence was obtained without a warrant in violation of the Fourth Amendment. Therefore, the evidence obtained should

be suppressed.

II. Mr. Keller had a Reasonable Expectation of Privacy in His Computers.

Even though probationers' "rights against warrantless searches and seizures are significantly curtailed," they are still "entitled to a certain degree of constitutional protection under the Fourth Amendment." *Purtell*, 2014 WI at ¶ 22. The protections of the Fourth Amendment apply when a person has a reasonable expectation of privacy in the property or location. *State v. Rewolinski*, 159 Wis. 2d 1, 12, 464 N.W.2d 401, 405 (1990).

A person has a reasonable expectation of privacy if (1) the person exhibited an actual, subjective expectation of privacy and (2) the expectation of privacy is one that society is willing to recognize as reasonable. *Id.* at 13, 464 N.W.2d at 405. Mr. Keller has the burden to show that he had a reasonable expectation of privacy in his computers. *Id.* at 16, 464 N.W.2d at 406.

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